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STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1 . Wheth e~ t~e Supe rior Court ' s finding that 

Appel lee d id not co mmit un fair or deceptive acts 

i n vi o l a ti on of G. L . c . 93A was "clearly 

erroneous ," where the evidence at trial showed 

that there was a legitimate dispute as to whe ther 

Appellants were entit l ed to a refund of the cost 

of their cruise tickets, and there was no evidence 

tha t the alleged ac ts underlying th e 93A claim 

caused Appellants to suffer any injury or loss 

whatsoever. 

2 . Whether the prior decision of the Appeals 

Court of Worcester somehow constituted "law of the 

case " concerning Appellants' G.L. c . 93A claims , 

where the Appeals Court never rendered a decision 

on the 93A claims , an d s pecifi c ally remanded the 

case to the Super i or Court for the purpose of 

deciding the 93A claims. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A) Backgro und summary 

Appel l ants purchased passenger tickets from 

Appellee, Nor~ e gia~ Crui se Lin e Ltd. ("NCL") for a 



cruise fro~ 30ston t o Bermuda on the Norwegian 

Majest y departing on September 16, 2001. They 

alleged that after the terrorist attacks of 

September 11, 2001, they decided not to take the 

cru ise and either cancelled or sought to 

reschedule. They first made a written request to 

reschedule on September 17, 2001. Appellants 

conceded that the Norwegian Majesty sailed from 

Boston Harbor to Bermuda with passengers on 

Sept ember 16, 2001, as scheduled, and there is no 

evidence that the passengers who sailed 

experienced any difficulty or danger arising from 

terrorism or any other event. Appendix at 148-149 

(hereafte r "App. at"). NCL denied their request 

to reschedule and Plaintiffs sued. 

NCL then moved to dismiss the complaint in 

the Superior Court based upon a forum selection 

clause in the ticket contract, which motion was 

granted. Plaintiffs appealed the dismissal and 

the Appel l ate Court reversed, holding that 

Plaint iffs hac :.ot accepted the ticket contract 

under Massact~s~cts :aw . The Appellate Court then 
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remande~ ~~~ ~: ~te Superior Court to 

deter~ ~~ e ~~ e :~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ellants wer e ent itl ed to a 

re fu n~ ~~ j :: ie :~de their c laims of unfair or 

de cep t~~ e ~~ 5 ~~ ess practi ces unde r G.L. c . 93A. 

Plaintif fs ' coun sel sought at tr ial to prove tha t 

NCL engaged i n deceptive or unfair acts which 

would ent i tl e him to counsel fees wor th a l mos t 20 

times the cost of the ti cket s at i ss ue. The 

Superio r Court f o und in favor o f NCL. 

B) The Supe rior Co urt' s fin din gs of fa ct 

On remand, the Superior Court (Justi ce Henry ) 

held a ben c h trial to decide the 93A claims. 

Fol l owing the tri a l, Justice Henry i ssued a 

Memorandum of Decision and Orde r for Judgment 

which held, inter alia, the foll owi ng: 

I find n o unfair or deceptive ac t or 
practice on the part of Norwegian. While 
the Casavants' desire to postp o ne or to 
cancel their cruise so soon after the 
events of September 11, 200 1, is 
perfectly understandable, Norwegian's 
cancellation fees were clearly spelled 
out in documents received nearly a year 
before those eve nts occurred. Mr. 
Casavant indicated that he was awar e of 
the cancellation fees as stated in 
several of the documents which the 
Casavants had r eceived. 
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App at 32 . 

C) The unde~lying transaction 

I n or 2bo~t October, 2000 , Appellants booked 

t wo t ickets for a pleasure cruise scheduled for 

September 1 6, 2001 from Bos ton to Bermuda aboard 

the vessel Norwegian Majesty, which was owned 

and/ or operated by NCL. App . at 110. The cruise 

was not booke d throu g h NCL, b ut thr ough 

Appellants' travel agent, BJ's Travel Club, 

located in Woburn, MA. App. at 133. In October, 

2000, Appellants received a Passenger Invoice and 

Confirmation ("Invoice ff
) from BJ's Tr avel Cl ub 

indi ca ting that they had paid a $628.00 down­

payment against a total invoice price of 

$2,135.50, and that the balance of the t i cket 

price was due by July 18, 200 1. App. at 133, 164 

The Invoice further contained information 

indicating, inter alia, that there would be a 50 % 

fee for cancellations made 15-29 days before 

departure, and a 100 % cancellation fee for 

cancellations made 0 - 14 days prior to departure. 

Id. Appellants reviewed the Invoice when they 
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rec e~ \- ::: :: ~ ::: ~::: a ware that there could be 

fees ~ a~c el l ing the cruise . App. at 

13 /1 - - -
4- ~"'; ::. 

~~~ e ~~ et t o t he Invoice sent t o Appellants 

was a " ';:' ravel In fo rmation and Servi ce Agreement" 

from BJ's Tr avel which stated the f ol lowing at 

paragraph 4: "Once you have purchased y ou r 

vacation, you may be subject to certain 

cancellati on fees. These c ancella tion fees va ry 

depend ing upon the nature of your vacation and the 

amount o f time prior to departure that you cancel 

you vacation ." App . at 167 . The Invoice further 

notified Appe l lants at paragraph 5 that "Trip 

Cancellation/Travel Insurance safeguards you 

against vendor cance llation fees in the event of a 

medical emergency." (Emphas is supplied). Id . In 

or about July 12, 2001, BJ's Travel Club sent 

Appellants "Confirmation" that they had paid the 

balance due on the cruise tickets and that they 

had purchased travel insurance from Berkely 

Leisure Care. App. at 173- 175. This 

confirmation also reitera ted th e cancellation fee 
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sche d u ~s ~ ~5= ~~~ ~~ above . I d. 

At ~~~ ~~ , ~00 ellan t Mar k Casavant testified 

that a l t ~8 ~g ~ ~e r ece i ved NCL's cruise ticket 

" a r ou n d t h e f ir s t o f Se ptembe r, 2 001," he d i d n o t 

r e ad i t. App. a t 14 1 . Mr. Casavant testified 

that after the terrorist attacks of Septemb e r 1 1 , 

20 0 1, he and his wife decided not to take the 

cruise because they did n o t f eel safe doing so. 

He te s tified that he believed he called NCL's 

customer service on the evening of September 11 t h 

and that a representati v e advised him that if he 

intended n o t to take the cruise, he should cancel 

rather than simply be "a no-show." App. at 119-

121. He further testif i ed that h e made a reque s t 

to res c hedule the cruise, h opefully f o r a year 

later "when everything had calmed down," but that 

the representati v e said in order to do that he 

would have to cancel the trip. Id. After he got 

off the telephone with the customer service 

representative, Mr. Casavant testified that he 

told his wi f e of the conversation and she said 

"did you get it i n writing." App. at 121. 
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Mr . Cas a~a~~ tes tified that h e call e d NCL 

custome r s erv~ce again, either on Se ptember 12th o r 

the 13 th , at wh ic h time a represen tat i ve repeated 

th e s um an d s ubs t ance o f the advice he h a d been 

given on Se ptember 11 th , a nd further th a t the trip 

insurance would work "in our favor, and would help 

us al o ng." App. at 122 -123. Mr. Casavant 

testifi e d that he cal led NC L several mor e times, 

but could n o t recall the conversations, as they 

were "insignificant." App .. at 124. He claimed 

he did r emember a third conversation with NCL, 

wherein he spoke to a man who told him they would 

not be able to reschedule because they had 

canceled the cruise. App . at 126. 

Mr . Casavant could not remember the name of 

any NCL rep r esentative that he had spoken to. 

Appellants did not introduce any written evidence 

of these alleged conversations with NeL, even 

though Mr. Casavant testified that "1 think 

they're written on some paper, someplace around 

here. We ha v e s ome of the people we' v e talked 

to." App. at 137 . 
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Mr. :a5 ~ ~~~ ~ spe cif i c a l l y testified that 

n o thing i n K: ~'3 pas senger ticket contract 

inf l uen c e d h i s oe ci si o n t o try to cancel o r 

res c hedul e the c ru is e , because he hadn't read th e 

c o ntr a ct as of Se p tember 1 1 , 200 1 , and that he was 

"pretty conf i dent the insurance was going to 

do -you kn ow, cover it, af t e r our conversations." 

App. at 14 1 . 

App e llants introduced their trip in s urance 

policy into evidence at trial, which Mr. Casavant 

obvi o usly had in his files. App. at 193. Mr. 

Casavant c o nceded that noth i ng in the po l icy 

indicated it would cover t rip cancellation fees 

r e s u lt i ng f rom fear of a t er rorist attack. App. 

at 1 36-137. Moreover, it is undisputed that th e 

c o nfirmations sent to them almost one year befo re 

the scheduled cruise stated only that trip 

insurance would cover "cancel l ation fees in the 

event of medical emergency." App. at 167. Simply 

put, had Appellants wanted to know whether their 

cancellation would fall within the coverage scope 

of the polic y , they needed o nly to look at the 

8 



:-=-~e. There is no evidence 

the y ;:;.~ _ 

whether Appellants did or did 

not call N C ~ prio ~ to their scheduled sailing 

date, what is undisputed is that they did not rely 

upon any representations from NCL personnel in 

canceling their cruise. As Mr. Casavant 

testified: 

Q. Was there anything that anyone 
could have told you a f ter the 
events of September 11 that 
would have induced you to sail 
on September 16, or had you made 
your decision that yo u were not 
sailing on September 16? 

A. I don't think we were going to 

sail. 

App. at 138-139. 

Mr. Casavant testified that he knew that 

because he paid the full cruise ticket price, NCL 

was obliged to keep a room for him on the 

Norwegian Majesty: an obligation that can only be 

characterized as contractual. Tr. 49. 

testified as follows: 

Q. Is it fair to say, Mr. Casavant, 
~tat you believed that Norwegian 

9 
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___ .. t:::: had contractual 
~~~~~~~~=ns to you, and you paid 
tte~ ~:~ those obligations; correct? 

A. ~hat's correct. 

App. at 146. 

The potential consequences of Appellants' 

last minute cancellation was not lost on even Mr. 

Casavant. He conceded that as a result of his 

trying to reschedule his cruise, there could be a 

room that was reserved for him on the Norwegian 

Majesty which would be vacant upon sailing: 

Id. 

Q. Okay. So you knew when you were 
looking to cancel or reschedule 
your cruise, that there would be 
a room that was reserved for 
you, that would now be empty, 
correct? 

A. Well, yes, you're right, but I 
also in my thought process 
believed, you know, that as 
people up and go travel that 
last-minute deals-I thought 
maybe that we would go that way. 

The first written indication that the 

Appellants wanted to cancel or reschedule their 

cruise was their letter to NCL dated September 17, 

2001, the day after the vessel departed. App. at 

10 



1 8 3 . E c o': -= ---=-- ~-=~ :er did not state that NCL 

~~le ged ly advi sed Plainti ffs 

:r~ ~ s e o r tha t the ir trip 

~ aci l itate a rescheduling o f thei r 

vacat~ c :--. . Moreover , a l though Appellants 

requ ested a reschedulin g of their cru i se , they 

could not state with any ce rtainty when , if ever, 

they would be wi l l ing to take another cru ise : an 

undeniabl e impediment t o NCL's ability to 

reschedule their tr ip . App . at 144. On October 

11, 2001 , NCL deni ed Plaintiffs' request to 

reschedu le the c ruis e . App . at 18 4 . 

D) The Lit igati o n 

On August 20, 2002 , Appel lant s ent ered into a 

ret a iner agre ement with their attorney , John D. 

Deacon Jr. The reta iner was introduced into 

evidence at trial as Exhi b it "12." Mr. Deacon 

inexplicably decided to exclude his retainer 

agreemen t fr om the Appendix submitte d herewith. 

Never thele ss , the test imony at tr ial showed that 

his fee arrangemen t was on a cont i ngency basis set 

at 50 % o f a~ v a~oun ts recovered plu s 100 % of any 

11 



attorneys ~,,::~::ic:::i by the court. App. at 150-

151, 153-~:':';. ~~O days after entering into a 

retainer ag~Ec:~e~t with Appellants, Mr. Deacon 

sent NCL a demand letter, dated August 22, 2002, 

under "ch. 93A, §9(3) M.G.L.A." App. at 185-188. 

Although he had been representing Appellants for 

less than 48 hours, his demand included $2,600.00 

in counsel fees, which exceeded the cost of the 

underlying claim by almost 20%. 

Appellants' August 22, 2002 demand letter 

asserted the following claims of deceptive or 

unfair acts or practices: 1) Plaintiffs never 

accepted the contract, 2) there was no 

consideration because NCL's fare was "fully 

earned" before sailing, 3) they had the right to 

use their tickets for another cruise for any 

reason, 4) NCL failed to file its fare with the 

Massachusetts administrative agency under M.G.L.A 

§12(a), and S) the passenger ticket contract's 

limitation of liability for personal injury or 

death was illegal under 28 U.S.C. 183-c. Id. 

On Septe~ber 26, 2002, counsel for NCL 

12 



responde d t: : ~~ i e ~ a n d letter point by point, 

set ti ng for: ~ ie tail why NCL was not le ga l ly 

required t o re =~ ~8 or reschedule Appellants' 

c r ui se . NC ~' s r esp onse a ddit io nal ly pointed out 

that a for um s e~e c tion c laus e in the ticket 

contract, wh i ch had been uph e ld by the courts of 

Massachuse t ts , requ ired that suit be brought only 

in Dade County Flor ida. App. at 191-192. 

Appellants filed s uit in Wo rc ester Superior 

Court on October 3 , 2002. NCL answered the 

complaint and therea fter moved to dismiss based 

upon the Dade Count y, Flo r ida forum selecti on 

clause. On December 9 , 2002, NCL's motion to 

dism i ss was gran te d by the Ho norable James P. 

Donohue. On December 23 , 2002, Appellants moved 

f or rec o nsideration, wh i ch motion was denied. 

App. at 1- 4 . 

Appellants appealed to the Appeals Court of 

Massachusetts, which reversed the lower court and 

vacated th e o rder denying Plaintiffs' moti o n for 

reconsideration. The Appeals Court held that the 

forum s e lection clause was unenforceable because 

13 



the A P P e ~ ~ =- :'. -=- .: ~ :t a ccept e d the contract un der 

state _ c / .• _::5 ",'.' ",,--: : v . Norwegian Cruise Line, 

Ltd . f ;:: -::, :.:::: .::.:: . ,=--, p p . c: t. 785, 8 2 9 N. E . 2 d 1171 ( 2 005) . 

Th e cas e ~as remanded for determin a tion of whether 

Appel l an ts were entitled to a full refund and to 

litigate Plainti ffs ' claims under M.G.L.A. § 93A. 

In June 2006 the parties filed the Joint Pr e -

Trial Memorandum. App. at 36-51. Appellants 

included fo r the first time as part of their § 93 A 

claim an allegation th a t NCL violated 940 CMR 

§ 15.01 e t. seq . by deceiving them with rega r d t o a 

cancellation policy in its passenger ticket 

contract This additional claim had not been 

asserted either in Appellants' demand lette r of 

August 22 , 2002 nor in its complaint. App. at 5-

11. NCL also noted in its input to th e Joint Pre­

Trial Memorandum that although the action had then 

been pending for f our years, Appellants' counsel 

had only raised the claim three days before the 

pre-trial conference, and had not raised the issue 

in its initial draft of that very document. App. 

at 46-47. 
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Furth e 2:" , ~o i nt Pre-Trial Memorandum, 

NCL agreed t~ 2:"e~ ~~i ?laintif fs' ticket price of 

$2,017.50 basei ~D C~ t he decision of the Appeals 

Court o f Mass2c hu s e tts. App . at 46 . Appellan t s 

did not accept the offer unti l trial. App . at 1 00 -

102. NCL has since paid the refund in full , with 

interests and cost. As such, this case i s now 

only an effort by Appellants' counsel to recover 

an eg re g i ously exaggerated attorney's fee claim of 

app roximately $40,000. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

In review ing a matter wherein t h e trial judge 

was the finder of fac t, the j udge' s findin gs o f 

fact are accepted as true unless they are clearly 

erroneous. Howard v. Daniels, Slip Copy, 2009 WL 

412994 (Mass.App.Ct. 2009). 

15 



LEGAL ARGUMENT 

1. The Superior Court's finding that NCL did not 
commit unfair or deceptive business practices 
cannot remotely be characterized as "clearly 
erroneous,u given that it was supported by 
undisputed evidence and controlling legal 
precedent. 

This case boil ed down to a good faith 

disagreement over whether Appe llant s were ent itled 

t o a refund of the cost of their cruise tickets , 

and whether they were entitled to a refund upon 

deci d i ng to cancel their trip. As such, it comes 

squarely within the principle that a mere breach 

of a legal obligation, without more, does not 

amount to an unfair or deceptive act under §93A . 

Framingham Auto Sales v . Worke r's Credit Union , 41 

Mass.App.Ct. 416, 671 N.E. 2d 963 (Appeals Cour t of 

Massachusetts , Middlesex 1996). 

There was not the slightest suggestion in any 

of the trial testimony that NCL had an ulterior 

motive, or a coercive or extor tionate objective. 

Id . On the contrary, Mr . Casavant admit ted that 

he believed that NCL was contractual l y obligated 

to reserve the Plaintiffs ' room aboard the vessel 

16 



and to sa i.:c t~s wi fe from Boston to 

Bermuda. Give ~_ I-:::=- . :::asavant ' s admission that 

contractua l ob ~iga t i on s e xisted between these 

parties, it cannot be sa id that NCL was either 

deceptive or unfair in electing to hold Appellants 

to their bargain. See Jasty v. Wrigh t Medical 

Technology, Inc., 2006 WL 961456 (D. Mass) ("a good 

faith dispute over billing or a simple breach of 

contract are each an insuff icient basis for 93A 

1 i ab iii t y . ") . It has been held that in agreeing 

to sail on a cruise, and prior to boarding, a 

passenger had entered into a binding ticket 

contract. Vega v. Norwegian Cruise Lines, 2007 WL 

17916 24 (S.D.N.Y). Moreover, there has been no 

sugges tion that NCL engaged in active 

misrepresentation or deceit. Plastics Color & 

Compounding, Inc. v. Coz, 20 Mas.L.Rtpr. 453 (S up . 

Ct. Ma s s ., 2006) 

As the Superior Court held in its Decision and 
Order following the trial: 

I find that the dispute between the 
parties over whether the Casavants were 
entitled to a re fu nd under the 
circumstances was a legi timate business 

17 



disput e . ~os i t i on taken by Norwegian 
did n ot ~~=~ ~e~i t a nd was not a sham 
jus t if i ca~ ~ o~ . There was a legit imate 
disp u t e ove ~ whether Norwegian ow e d the 
Casavants a refund under the 
cir cumstar.ces . 

App at 32 - 33 . 

It must also be remembered tha t despite the 

ultimate decis i on of the Appeals Court , the 

Super i or Court (J. Dono h ue ) initia lly dismissed 

the case , holding that Appellants had accepted the 

contract and were bound by its term s and 

condi t ions. Given the legion of cas e l aw that NCL 

submitt ed in support of its positi on , Ju stice 

Don ohue's dec i sion was on sound l ega l footing , as 

was NCL ' s goo d faith bel ief that Appellants were 

legally boun d by their contract. NCL's passenger 

ticket has been upheld repeatedly in Massachusetts 

and e l sewhere. See Keikian v . Norwegian Cruise 

Line, Ltd., 204 Mass. App . Div. 91, 2004 WL 

1293262 (Mass App. Div.); Croce v. Norwegian 

Cruise line , et al., No . 99 -4524- G, May 30 , 2000 

( Sup. Ct. Suffolk Cty. ); Ralli v . Norwegian Cr ui se 

Lin e , Ltd., No . 2 6 1 8 3 7, S e pte mb e r 1 7 , 1 9 9 9 ( B 0 s . 

18 



M un. Ct . S '-': :: :: = ~ :.-_ =- -::. y . ); H a r r y & D awn B roo k s v. 

Norwegia n C~~~5e ~in es . 0064 SC 0049, June 19, 

2000 ( Di s t C L . ~.~ C ~ c e s t e r ) Richard & Patricia 

Brook s v. Norw e gi a n Crui s e Lines, No. 0064 SC 

0120, June 19, 2000 (Dist Ct . Worcester); LaPierre 

v. Norwegian Cruise Line Ltd., No. 0023 SC 1759, 

June 26 , 2000 (Dist Ct. Springfield) ; See also , 

L urie v Norwegian Cruise Lines, Ltd. 305 F.Supp. 

2d 35 2 (SDNY 2004); Reynolds -Naughton v. 

Norwegi an Cruise Line Limited, 386 F.3d 1 (lst Cir. 

2004); Siegel v. Norwegian Cruise Line, Ltd., 2001 

WL 1905983. 

Wh i le the Appeals Court of Massachusetts may 

have held that the Appellants did not accept the 

contract under these particular circumstances, 

there i s no evidence of a deceptive or unfair 

practice under §93A . Furthermore, an analysis of 

Appellants' proffered examples of NCL's alleged 

"deceptive or unfair" acts reveals that they are 

largely based upon legally incorrect 

interpretations of statutes which had nothing 

whatsoever to do with Plaintiffs' involvement with 

19 



NCL. 

a) Al l egation - NCL violated 940 CMR 15:01 

Appel lant s based their § 93A claim in part upon 

940 CMR §l S.O l et. seq ., alleging that NCL 

deceived them with regard to a cancellation or 

refund policy in its passenger ticket contract . 

However, Appellants' counsel did not include the 

§lS.Ol c laim in his complaint. He also failed to 

include it in the written demand letter he sent 

NCL under ch. 93A. M.G.L.A. 93A §9(3) states that 

"(a)t least thirty days prior to the filing of any 

such action , a written demand for relief, 

identifying the claimant and reasonably describing 

the unfair or decept ive act or practi ce relied 

upon and the injury suffered , shall be mailed or 

delivered to any prospective respondent." 

(Emphasis supplied) . Appellants' counsel mailed 

such a "written demand" to NCL on or about August 

22, 2002, but did not remotely make any claim 

under 940 CMR §lS .Ol, et. seq. 

Appel l ants ' counsel attempts to excuse this 

omission by c l aiming that NCL's refund policy was 

20 



not disclos:::::' after NCL responded to his 

demand lette:::-. ~his excuse is clearly 

disingenuous g~veG that he also failed to include 

the claim in h~s complaint filed three months 

after receiving NCL's response to the demand 

letter. Additionally, although Mr. Deacon 

asserted that he was not obligated to send such a 

letter to NCL, he never explained why he did so. 

More importantly, even if this claim were 

properly asserted, it would still be patently 

without merit. First, there was no testimony at 

trial that NCL's cancellation policy was not 

conveyed to the Appellants. On the contrary, 

Appellants admitted receiving NCL's cancellation 

policy from their travel agent almost one year 

prior to their scheduled departure date. 

Moreover, Appellants confuse NCL's policy of 

providing passengers with a 100% refund if they 

object to any terms or conditions of the ticket 

contract, with the general cancellation policy 

which BJ's Travel Club conveyed to Appellants in 

their confirmation documents. As NCL's counsel 

21 



explained ~~ ~~5 ~esponse to the demand letter; 

"The policy c: ::==-- ~s to provide passengers with a 

100% refund Lhey have an objection to a 

provision in the Passenger Ticket Contract." 

Exhibit 10. In Lurie v. Norwegian Cruise Line, 

Ltd., the court explained NCL's refund policy as 

follows: 

The refund provision in the Luries' 
passenger ticket contract is 
substantially the same as that addressed 
in Shute. It states, in relevant part, 
"The fare paid hereunder ... shall be 
considered fully earned at the time of 
payment ... Carrier shall not be liable to 
make any refund to passenger in respect 
of lost tickets or in respect of tickets 
wholly or partly not used by a 
passenger ... (Kilgour Decl. Ex. A). Under 
Shute, and on its face, this clause does 
not preclude a passenger from rejecting 
the terms of the passenger ticket 
contract without penalty. 

Lurie v. Norwegian Cruise Line, Ltd. 305 F.Supp2d 

352, 362 (S.D.N.Y 2004). In Shute, the Supreme 

Court held that a cruise passenger is entitled 

only to "reject the contract" with impunity within 

a reasonable period of time after receiving the 

ticket if the passenger objects to terms and 
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prov i sioc s - - :::: o c tract. Carnival Cruis e Lines 

Inc. v. Sh uce , --, ~~ 0 . S . 585, 593-595, 11 S.Ct . 

1522 , 1 1 3 L . '::::' . 2 ·::' 6 22 (1991). Here, App ellants 

ne ver obj ect e d t o a provi s i on of the contract, bu t 

o n l y sought to de l ay their departure date 

indefinit e l y until NCL could somehow assur e them 

that they would b e comple te ly safe fr om terrorism. 

At tr ial , Mr. Cas avant admitted that he did 

not read hi s con tract before deciding not t ake the 

cruise, and as such, his decision to cancel was 

n o t based up o n an object ion to a term in the 

ti cket cont rac t. Therefore , Appell an ts' 

cancellation did not fa ll within NCL's refund 

policy. It was neither unfa i r no r de ceptive for 

NCL to be l ieve that Appellants' decision to cancel 

the cruise due to a fear of terrorism was not a 

rejection of the terms of the ticket contract, and 

did not entitle them t o a refund. Loreal USA Inc. 

v. PM Hot e l Associates, 816 N.Y.S.2d 696 ("a 

party's subjective f e ar of a terrorist attack d id 

not constitute a legally cognizable e xcuse =o ~ 

non-performance of contractual obl ~g~~~:~ 5 . 



Again, it ~~s: ~~s: ~e remembered that Justice 

Donohue ca~e :: :~e same conclusion as NCL after 

reviewing i~s ~::icn to dismiss. Clearly, NCL 

had a good fait~ Delief in its position. See 

Reynolds Naugncon v. Norwegian Cruise Line 

Limited, 386 F.3d 1 (1 st Cir. 2004). 

Finally, there is no evidence of causation 

between 940 CMR § 15. 01, e t seq., and the 

Appellants' damage claims. Mr. Casavant testified 

unequivocally that after the attacks of September 

11, 2001, he would not take the cruise no matter 

what was offered to him. Assuming arguendo that 

there was a statutory violation here, in the 

absence of causation, it could not form a 

predicate under §93A. Hershenow v. Enterprise 

Rent-A-Car, 445 Mass. 790, 840 N.E.2d. 526; T.W. 

Nickerson Inc. v. Fleet National Bank, 2006 WL 

4119652, (Sup. Ct. Mass., Barnstable County, 2006) 

( .. . "the facts and circumstances presented do not 

support a finding that Fleet's conduct amounted to 

an unfair and deceptive business practice. Nor do 

the facts and circumstances support a finding that 
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any l OSS ES : : : ~~~ : ~ 5 j t y t h e p lainti ff were caus e 

by the co=--_ .j ..: : -= : -: :::.. e e t ") . 

Give n t ~ 5 ~ t :v e , the Super i or Court was 

correct in t c _~~ng t he following: 

The Casa v a nts assert that there were 
unfai r or de cepti ve acts or practices 
co mmit ted by the defendant in violation 
of v ar i ous regulations of 940 CMR §15 .0 1 
e t. seq . I do not find such vio lati ons . 
As noted above, the terms o f the 
cancellation policy were provided to the 
Casavants nearly a year before the events 
whic h led t o their desire t o cancel or 
postpone the trip. While the abi lit y to 
obtain a refund if th e y disagreed with a 
prov is i on of the Pass enge r Ticket 
Contract was not relayed to the Casavants 
unt i l the defendant responded to the 93A 
demand le tter, that failure was not a 
cause of any loss by the Casavants. They 
did not disagree with a provision of the 
Passenger Ti cket Contract, they simply 
decided that under the cir cum s t an ces then 
present they did not wish to sail. 

App. at 33. 

It should als o be noted that the Superior 

Court's decision did not in any way conflict with 

the prior decision of the Appeals Court. As 

Just ice Henr y noted: it "does not appear that the 

Appeals Court was provided with information 

regarding notices of the applicable cancellation 
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- - ... t 1 - ~X~~Dl S , 2 , and 4." Id. 

b) ~ __ ~~~:~~~ NCL failed to meet filing 

requi~~~e~:5 

el~a~ts argue that NCL was required to file 

its fare with the Massachusetts administrative 

agency under M.G.L.A §12(a), and that the failure 

to do so gives rise to 93A liability. Appellants 

presented no evidence or legal argument of a 

single national cruise ship operator which filed 

its fares with the Massachusetts administrative 

agency. Moreover, this statute applies only to 

carriers that transport people "between points 

within the commonwealth." Here the cruise was 

between Boston and Bermuda. In addition, since 

there is no evidence that the failure to file its 

fare with the Massachusetts administrative agency 

caused Appellants' damages or is related to 

Appellants' claims, it could not form a predicate 

under §93A. Hershenow v. Enterprise Rent-A-Car, 

445 Mass. 790, 840 N.E.2d. 526: T.W. Nickerson 

Inc. v. Fleet National Bank, 2006 WL 4119652 (Sup. 

Ct. Mass., Barnstable County, 2006). As the 
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Super':'-=,-· "~ven assuming such a filicg 

~ ~':'-olation of that requirement, 

t~e ~~~~~~~==5 ~~ve not shown that they suffered 

a~y ~oss as a result the violation." 

c) Allegation- NCL's contract was illegal 

under 28 U.S.C. 183(c) 

The ticket contract's limitation of liability 

for personal injury or death was not illegal under 

28 U.S.C. 183(c), but only unenforceable for 

voyages to or from a United States port. See 

Shultz v. Florida Keys Dive Center, 224 F.3d 1269 

(11 th Cir. 2000); Wallis v. Princess Cruises, Inc. 

306 F.3d 827 (9 th Cir. 2002); Reynolds Naughton v. 

Norwegian Cruise Line Limited, 386 F.3d 1 (lst Cir. 

2004) . NCL's ticket contract and the 

proscriptions of Sec. 183-c were specifically 

analyzed in Reynolds-Naughton, a federal case in 

Massachusetts, and not only was the contract found 

to be legal, but the forum selection clause was 

enforced. Id. 

Additionally, since NCL conducts voyages 

outside the United States, it is perfectly 
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acceptab le ==_ :~ ~ ~ l nclu de provisi ons i n its 

contract s ~~l:~ ~ay o n l y be enforceable outside 

the Un i ted S t a tes, and unde r par. 21 of the ticket 

contract, any inva li d or unenforceabl e prov i sions 

are severable from the balance of the c o ntract. 

Fi nally, assuming arguendo that the ticket 

contract did violate Sec. 183-c, in the absence of 

causation, it could not form a predicate under 

§93A . Hershenow v. Enterprise Rent-A-Car, 445 

Ma s s. 790 , 840 N. E . 2 d. 526; T.W. Nicke rson Inc. 

v. Fleet National Bank, 2 006 WL 411965 2 (Sup . Ct. 

Mass., Barnstable County, 2006 ). Th ere was no 

testimony at trial that Plaintiffs were even aware 

that this limitation of liability existed. 

As the Superior Court noted: "the claim that 

the ticket's l imitation of liabilit y fo r personal 

injury or death was illegal and, therefore, a 

violation of c. 93A is to no avail. The 

plaintiffs cannot show an injury or loss caused by 

that provision." 

d) The additional bases f or Appella~:51 

claim are equally invali d 
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None ~ ~~~ ~ ~~~g bases for Appellants' 

§93A c la~~ ~~~ .~_~ j . Th ey argue that NCL 

committ ee decep tive act by not 

refundin g t~2~~ t~cket fare because 1) they never 

accepted the co~tract , 2) there was no 

cons ideratio n because NCL's fare was "fully 

earned" before sail ing , and 3) they allegedly had 

the right to use their tickets on another cruise. 

However, at wors t, the refusal to issue a refund 

would have been a simple commercial d i sagreement 

for which there is no § 93A liability. As stated 

extensively above , " a good faith dispute as to 

whether money is owed or performance of some kind 

is due, is not the stuf f of which a c . 93A claim 

is made." Jasty v. Wright Medical Technology, 

Inc., 2006 WL 961456 (D. Ma s s . ) 

Additionally, these claims of deceptive or 

unfair practices are nonsensical. The fact that 

the fare was considered "fully earned" means only 

that NCL was entitled to the fare upon reserving a 

space for the Appellants on the vessel. 

practice is no different than any other 

~9 

This 



transportc ':: ~ =~_ ~--.- .. --...-- .. 
- - - _. -- ...-"- - - , from airlines to rail 

carriers tc ~~s ==~~cnles, which are entitled to 

their fare _ ~SSJance of a ticket and do not 

have to wait :cr their money until after the 

voyage is co~p~ete_ See Siegel v. Norwegian 

Cruise Line, Ltd., 2001 WL 1905983 (D.N.J.) (The 

fact that the NCL ticket contained a provision 

indicating that the fare is "fully earned at the 

time of payment" did not constitute economic 

duress which would thereby render the forum 

selection clause unenforceable.); see also Lurie 

v. Norwegian Cruise Line, Ltd., 305 F.Supp2d 352, 

362 (S.D.N.Y 2004) 

As for the allegation that Appellants were 

indisputably entitled to reschedule their cruise, 

such a provision is not contained anywhere in the 

contract. Moreover, Mr. Casavant admitted at 

trial that he did not believe that he could 

reschedule his cruise for any reason, and did not 

agree with his attorney's August 22, 2002 demand 

letter which made that assertion. 

Q. . .. You didn't believe you could 
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,,-. - .- -. -
'-' --- _. - - - ~ : ~ ~ ~j reason and just go 
s : ~ ~ ~ _~ ~ ~~ : the r cruise at another 
c:_:-:- e . 

A . :~ :: - ~ : r ~ ':; y rea son , no . 

Tr_ at 5 1 . 

e) Pl aintiffs ' demand for roughly $40 , 000 . 00 
in co uns el fees and mult iple dama ges is 
outra geous 

A pa rty is entitled on l y to fees that were 

necessary for the adva ncement of a successful 93A 

cla i m. Sorensen v. H & R Block, 2005 WL 2323 196 

(D.Mass) . Additional l y , attorneys' fees should 

not be granted for wor k in ra ising argument s which 

border on the frivol o us and which were apparent ly 

performed for the sole purpose of making a record 

t o support a 93A claim for damages. Id., citi ng 

Kramer v . Marine Midland Bank , 577 F . Supp. 999 

(S.D.N.Y. 1984). 

As described extensively above, Appellants ' 

counsel advanced arguments concerning all eged 

statutory violations which were simply incorrect 

and which in no way were causatively linked to 

Appellants ' unde r ly i ng cla im for a refund. In 
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ro--..:.::; ~_ ~ 

C~2~:--

to 

==~~sel claims he expended 

~~::;2~ time to recover on a 

32,lOO.00. In fact, in just the 

_=~~ __ 2~~er he was retained, he claimed 

in legal time and demanded 

payT~~~ =~ that excessive figure in his letter to 

KCL as a condition of settling the underlying 

$2,100.00 claim. 

This case did not involve document discovery 

or any depositions. Appellants opposed a single 

motion to dismiss and then progressed right to 

trial. Appellants' counsel concedes that his time 

appealing the order dismissing the case was not 

compensable. It is therefore unfathomable that 

his fees could reach this level without a 

concerted effort to maximize them with an eye 

toward the 93A claim, and without any regard for 

proportion or propriety. Appellants were made 

whole by virtue of the fact that NCL refunded 

their ticket price, with interest and costs, a 

payment which was offered to them when the Joint 

Pre-Trial Memorandum was filed. 
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sss~ multiple damages of 

However, multiple 

_cc,c:::::-.-si ::or particularly egregious 

isfendants who have committed a 

'~E~~~ :~ E_.· :~~ocent violation' of the statute are 

~ot ~:~~~s for multiple damages, while a second 

class of defendants who have committed willful or 

knowing violations are." DataComm Interface v. 

ComputerWorld, Inc., et ai, 396 Mass. 760 (1986), 

as cited in Plastics Color & Compounding Inc. v. 

C02, 20 Mass.L.Rptr. 453 (Sup. Ct. Mass. 2006) 

A "willful or knowing" violation is one where 

either the defendant affirmatively knew that a 

material representation was false or that the 

defendant made the representation with reckless 

disregard for its truth or falsity. Id. There is 

nothing in the evidentiary record to remotely 

suggest such a degree of culpability on the part 

of NCL. On the contrary, NCL conducted itself at 

all times consistent with legal precedent as laid 

down in numerous cases which specifically analyzed 

and enforced its own passenger ticket contract and 
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its 

- - , - - -- -' -~~ c our t in Fram ingham Auto 

~:~~er ' s Credit Uni o n , "It is 

q~~~ e ; :5 5~ ~_ e ~ ha t t he p l a i n t iff ' s at t or neys fe es 

Cl 1. ~ e >-: ;: e :-. 5 2 S 'Ii ~ 11 e xc e edt h e am 0 u n t 0 f it s 

rec cvery , e ve n with lega l co sts and interest , but 

th is i s true of much me ritorious litigation 

leading to sma l l recoveries under the American 

rule on l itigat ion expenses . We are re quired to 

fol l ow that rule in cases not governed by a 

cont rary statu te. Framingham Auto Sales , Inc . v. 

Worker ' s Credit Union , 41 Mass . App . Ct . 4 1 6 (1 996 ) 

2) The prior decision of the Appeals Court 
did not constitute law of the case on 
Appellants' 93A claims 

Th i s Co urt need not deta in itself for long 

with Appel l ants ' preposterous assertion that the 

pri o r dec i sion of the Appea l s Court somehow 

constituted "law of the case " and required a 

finding of liability on their 93A claims. The 

Appeals Cour t spe cifically remanded t he case to 

the Superior Court f o r the purpose of decidi~g -

93A claims , hold i~ g as ~o ll ow s : " re~a ~ ~~~= 



-~~~'s c~aim against Norwegian 

~=~~~~ve business practices, 

93A." In its decision 

~~ ~~~al, the Superior Court 

~~ ___ ~,~~ . . :-.cted the following: 

determination of the Appeals Court 
~hat the Casavants had rejected the 
passenger ticket contract, see Casavant 
v. Norwegian Cruise Line, Ltd., 63 
Mass.App.Ct. 785, 799 (2005), does not 
mandate a different result. The Court 
noted that the issues of whether the 
Casavants were entitled to a full refund 
of the ticket price and whether there was 
an unfair or deceptive act or practice on 
the part of Norwegian were open issues. 

App. at 32. 
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CONCLUSION 

==_~t's finding that NCL did not 

. ==~ations was absolutely correct, 

- ~~~~tely approach the "clearly 

~ ::: _ ~ =-. ~ _ ~ sus tan dar d r e qui red too v e r t urn the 

~~==s=on. The Superior Court's decision should be 

affirmed in its entirety. 
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